0/a 8-31-88

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,826

CRANE RENTAL OF ORLANDO, INC.,

Petitioner,

vs.

FORD S. HAUSMAN, as Orange  
County Property Appraiser,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
FIFTH DISTRICT COURT  
OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA

**FILED**  
S.D. J. 10/1/88

MAY 18 1988

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By \_\_\_\_\_  
Deputy Clerk

✓  
*pl*

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

CHARLES EVANS DAVIS, ESQ., of  
Fishback, Davis, Dominick  
& Bennett  
170 East Washington Street  
Orlando, Florida 32801  
Phone No. (305) 425-2786  
Attorneys for Petitioner  
FLORIDA BAR LAWYER NO. 018161

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Defendant below, Petitioner here, owns and operates several mobile cranes used in the construction business in lifting and placing construction materials and components. The Plaintiff, Orange County Property Appraiser, in 1985, attempted to assess, for ad valorem tax purposes, the said cranes as tangible personal property. The Defendant appealed to the Property Appraisal Adjustment Board pursuant to Fla. Stat. §194.011, asserting that the said cranes were motor vehicles and prohibited from being taxed as tangible personal property by the provisions of Article VII, Section 1(b) of the Florida Constitution. The Board ruled that the motor carriers, which constitute a portion of the mobile cranes, were exempt from ad valorem taxation as licensed motor vehicles but allowed the taxation of the crane or lifting portion of the machines as tangible personal property for such taxation purposes and apportioned the appraised value between the exempt and taxable categories.

The cranes involved here are composed of separable units, that is, a carrier which is licensed as a motor vehicle, and the crane or lifting portion of the machine with separate engines, functions and operating controls.

The Plaintiff brought this action below under Fla. Stat. §194.036, seeking to overturn that portion of the Board's ruling which exempted the motor carrier portion of the machines from taxation as tangible personal property. The trial court, in the Final Judgment entered herein, held that no portion

of the machines was exempt and that these motor cranes were not motor vehicles and were, therefore, entirely taxable as tangible personal property.

The Petitioner, as Defendant below, had counterclaimed in the action, asserting that the entire machines were exempt as motor vehicles, and the trial court ruled against the Defendant on that issue.

The Final Judgment was appealed to the Florida Fifth District Court of Appeal, which sustained the trial court's judgment in a two to one decision. Judge Cowart, in a well-reasoned dissent, believed that the cranes were motor vehicles within Article VII, §1(b) of the Florida Constitution, and therefore exempt from ad valorem taxation.

POINT ON APPEAL

MOTOR CRANES ARE EXEMPT FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION AS MOTOR VEHICLES PURSUANT TO ARTICLE VII, SECTION 1(b) OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND FLA. STAT., §§320.01 AND 320.08.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The mobile cranes involved in this case are, in fact, motor vehicles and are classified, taxed, and licensed as motor vehicles under the provisions of Florida Statutes and are, therefore, exempt from ad valorem taxation as tangible personal property by the State Constitution.



ARGUMENT

POINT ON APPEAL

MOTOR CRANES ARE EXEMPT FROM AD VALOREM TAXATION AS MOTOR VEHICLES PURSUANT TO ARTICLE VII, SECTION 1(b) OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA, AND FLA. STAT., §§320.01 AND 320.08.

Article VII, Section 1(b) of the Florida Constitution provides:

Motor vehicles, boats, airplanes, trailers, trailer coaches and mobile homes, as defined by law, shall be subject to a license tax for their operation in the amounts and for the purposes prescribed by law, but shall not be subject to ad valorem taxes.

(Emphasis supplied)

It is apparent from the foregoing provision that if a vehicle is considered a motor vehicle and it is further subjected to a license tax, then an ad valorem tax on the vehicle is strictly prohibited. The Legislature is empowered to define those motor vehicles subject to a license tax.

Although the Florida Statutes contain many definitions of motor vehicles for various purposes, e.g., §§316.003(21), 316.003(76), 627.732(1) and 322.01, Florida Statutes (1985), the implementation of the constitutional plan for taxing motor vehicles is clearly set forth in Fla. Stat., §320.01(1) wherein motor vehicles are defined as:

(a) An automobile, motorcycle, truck, trailer, semitrailer, truck tractor, and semitrailer combination, or any other vehicle operated on the roads of this state, used to transport persons or property, and propelled by power other than muscular power, but the term does not include traction

engines, road rollers, such vehicles as run only upon a track, bicycles or mopeds as defined in s. 316.003(2).

(Emphasis supplied)

A reading of the underscored sections of the foregoing definition of a motor vehicle demonstrates three principles. First, the intent of the definition to be all-inclusive by adding to the many types covered "or any other vehicle." There is nothing contained within this definition of a motor vehicle which restricts or quantifies its transporting of persons or property before it can be recognized as such. Secondly, the fact that "muscular power" is the only exception to the type of power by which a motor vehicle may be propelled demonstrates the intent of the Legislature of keeping the definition as broad and all-encompassing as possible. Finally, cranes such as the one in issue are not enumerated as vehicles which the statute excludes from its definition.

The Appellate Court chose to ignore Fla. Stat., §320.01(a), and instead relied on the definition provided in Ch. 316, Fla. Stat. This chapter is concerned only with state uniform traffic control and in no way relates to the issue of taxation.

Further, the statute relied on by the Appellate Court, Fla. Stat., §316.03(49), itself lends confusion to the issue. Said section states:

(49) SPECIAL MOBILE EQUIPMENT. -- Any vehicle not designed or used primarily for the transportation of persons or property and only incidentally operated or moved over a highway, including, but not limited to, ditchdigging apparatus, well-boring apparatus, and road construction and maintenance machinery, such as asphalt spreaders,

bituminous mixers, bucket loaders, tractors other than truck tractors, ditchers, leveling graders, finishing machines, motor graders, road rollers, scarifiers, earth-moving carryalls and scrapers, power shovels and draglines, and self-propelled cranes and earth-moving equipment. The term does not include house trailers, dump trucks, truck-mounted transit mixers, cranes or shovels, or other vehicles designed for the transportation of persons or property to which machinery has been attached.

(Emphasis supplied)

Petitioner's cranes are designed to carry persons and property and have machinery which is attached in the nature of a crane mechanism. Therefore, it is unclear whether such cranes are included or excluded from the definition of special mobile equipment contained in the foregoing section.

Consistent with Article VII, Section 1(b) of the Florida Constitution, cranes are subject to a motor vehicle license tax under Fla. Stat. §320.08, which provides:

**License taxes.** -- Except as otherwise provided herein, there are hereby levied and imposed annual license taxes for the operation of motor vehicles ... which shall be paid to and collected by the department or its agent upon the registration or renewal of registration of the following:

....

(5) ... SPECIAL PURPOSE VEHICLES. --

....

(b) A motor vehicle equipped with machinery and designed for the exclusive purpose of well drilling, excavation, construction, spraying, or similar activity: \$32.50 flat.

(Emphasis supplied)

Petitioner's cranes are, in fact, motor vehicles which

have been equipped with machinery used for the exclusive purpose of performing various functions at construction sites. Since the Petitioner's cranes, as motor vehicles, are subjected to a license tax, Article VII, Section 1(b) clearly prohibits the imposition of any ad valorem tax. The Appellate Court failed to even address Fla. Stat., §320.08(5)(b).

The Appellate Court below relied on Forbes v. Bushnell Steel Construction Company, 76 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1954), for its holding. This case is inapposite for two reasons. First, the Supreme Court did not determine that cranes were subject to ad valorem taxation. While the Supreme Court in Forbes did reverse the trial court's determination that cranes were not subject to ad valorem taxation, it did so for evidentiary reasons, and the final disposition of the legal question is not reported. Secondly, the court in Forbes failed to even address Fla. Stat., §§320.01(1)(a) and 320.08(5)(b). These statutes, as shown above, are dispositive of this action since they demonstrate that cranes are included within the definition of motor vehicles and subject them to a motor vehicle license tax.

The Supreme Court of Florida has previously addressed an attempt to invade the constitutional protection of levying an ad valorem tax on boats, which, like "motor vehicles," are also protected under the constitutional exemption found in Article VII, Section 1(b). In Department of Revenue v. Florida Boaters Association, 409 So.2d 17 (Fla. 1981), the Supreme Court stated that although the Legislature had some flexibility

with respect to defining "boats" and other species of property excluded from ad valorem taxation, it could not depart from the normal and ordinary meaning of the words chosen by the framers and adopters of the Constitution. Specifically, a legislative attempt at defining a "live aboard vessel" so as to eliminate the exclusion from an ad valorem taxation accorded to a "boat" in the Florida Constitution was found to be unconstitutional. The reasoning of the court was that an exclusion from ad valorem taxation, as applied to a "boat," may not be denied to floating structures that are used, or capable of being used, for transportation or navigational purposes on water, and the statutory definition of a "live aboard vessel" failed to address this.

In the instant case, the Appellate Court, in relying on Forbes, concluded that the cranes were not motor vehicles because their primary purpose was not transporting persons or property. However, the Legislature did not establish within the definition of a motor vehicle in Fla. Stat., §320.01(1), a definition which excluded motor vehicles which only incidentally, and not primarily, transported persons or property. Thus, as in Florida Boaters Association, where the Legislature was precluded from enacting a statute which was contrary to the constitutional definition of a "boat," the Appellate Court included factors which are not contained within the definition of a motor vehicle. Until the Legislature amends that definition, the taxing authorities do not have the authority to assess an ad valorem tax on any motor vehicle that conforms to §320.01(1)

as written, except those that are expressly excluded. A tax imposed without legislative authority is a nullity. See, Department of Revenue v. Young American Builders, 358 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

The Supreme Court's decision in Florida Boaters Association is also relevant for its definition of a "boat" within Article VII, Section 1(b). The court held that only when a floating structure is rendered incapable of being used for transportation may the Legislature then declare that the structure is not a boat for the purpose of the exclusion from ad valorem taxation. Florida Boaters Association, supra, at 20. In response to this holding, the Florida Legislature enacted the following statute which differentiates "floating structures" from "boats" so as to subject "floating structures" to ad valorem taxation:

"Floating structure" means a floating barge-like entity, with or without accommodations built thereon, which is not primarily used as a means of transportation on water but which serves purposes or provides services typically associated with a structure or other improvement to real property. The term "floating structure" includes, but is not limited to, each entity used as a residence, place of business, office, hotel or motel, restaurant or lounge, clubhouse, meeting facility, storage or parking facility, mining platform, dredge, dragline, or similar facility or entity represented as such. Floating structures are expressly excluded from the definition of the term "vessel" provided in s. 327.02(27). Incidental movement upon water shall not, in and of itself, preclude an entity from classification as a floating structure. A floating structure is expressly included as a type of tangible personal property.

Fla. Stat., §192.001(17).

The Third DCA, in Land v. Department of Revenue, 510 So.2d 606 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), rev. denied, 518 So.2d 1276 (Fla. 1987), held Fla. Stat., §192.001(17) to be constitutional. In Land, the taxpayers challenged the decision of the Department of Revenue to impose ad valorem taxes for house boats. The court held that house boats were "floating structures" that were subject to ad valorem tax, and were not "boats" that were constitutionally exempt from ad valorem tax. The court reviewed the trial court's findings in reaching its decision. According to the trial court record, the house boats did not have any means of self-locomotion, nor were they equipped with the necessary equipment for boating, such as lights, horns, directional aids or radios. The court concluded that "incidental movement," as used in Fla. Stat., §192.001(17), meant only that movement which was done across the water by means of a towing device; and, since the house boats in issue could traverse through the water only by the use of a tug boat, their movement was incidental. On the basis of this evidence, the court held that the house boats were incapable of transportation and therefore not "boats" entitled to exemption from ad valorem taxation.

Thus, only entities which are incapable of propelling themselves and have none of the indicia of a "boat" may be excluded from the definition of "boat." This concept should apply equally to "motor vehicles," since both are within Article VII, Section 1(b). Applying this definition to "motor vehicles" excludes only those entities incapable of self-propulsion,

such as trailers.

Notwithstanding the foregoing legislative and case law authority indicating that a crane is a motor vehicle, the design and function of the cranes themselves support this principle. They are motor-driven and have wheels, tires and are licensed by the state. They are used to transport persons and property, namely, the crane equipment, to construction sites. The fact that a self-propelled crane is capable of performing functions in addition to transporting persons or property should not take it out of the definition of a motor vehicle.

The lower courts' redefinition of motor vehicles to impose the test that the same be primarily or exclusively designed for transportation of persons or property, not only is contrary to the legislative and constitutional provisions which control the subject, but also would, if logically extended, subject numerous licensed utility vehicles, whose primary uses are other than transporting persons and things, to intangible taxes while it can hardly be said that they are not motor vehicles within the normal classification of such. As the dissent in the appellate opinion points out, modern integrated mobile equipment is both vehicle and tool. "It is one object with two functional aspects each of which is equally essential to accomplish the purpose for which the other, and the whole, is designed, constructed, and used." Crane Rental of Orlando, Inc. v. Hausman, 518 So.2d 395, 401 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987).



The legislature has not attempted to exclude the mobile cranes involved in the case at bar from the constitutional prohibition, but to the contrary has specifically in Fla. Stat. §320.08 defined the same as licensed motor vehicles. Only the taxing authorities have attempted to overrule the legislative determination and the constitution in the case at bar. This attempt clearly exceeds their authority and is not uniformly attempted throughout the state.

CONCLUSION

The Legislature, having specifically dealt with the classification of such vehicles in Fla. Stat. §320.08(5)(b), Plaintiff's attempts to reclassify Defendant's cranes so as to render them taxable in violation of Fla. Const. Art. VII §1(b), constitute unlawful invasion of the legislative process. The decision of the Fifth District Court of Appeal, reported at 518 So.2d 395, review of which has been granted by this Court, should be reversed.