5/a 8-31-88.

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,826

CRANE RENTAL OF ORLANDO, INC.,	:
Petitioner,	FILED
-vs-	SID J. WHITE
	JUN 3 1988
FORD S. HAUSMAN, as Orange County Property Appraiser,	CLERK, SUPREME COURT
Respondent.	Deputy Clerk

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

FORD S. HAUSMAN, as Orange County Property Appraiser

## APPEAL FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

STEVEN R. BECHTEL P. O. Box 2854 Orlando, Florida 32801 Tel: 425-9044

# a n d

Law Offices Of GAYLORD A. WOOD, JR. 304 S.W. 12th. Street Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33315 Telephone 463-4040

##

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

The trial Court noted that the dictionary definition of "vehicle" is derived from the Latin root word meaning "to carry or transport". (R-98) As the trial Court cogently observed:

> And, of course, that's the distinction that's drawn here as to whether these cranes are used to carry or transport something. And I think quite clearly, they are not. They simply transport themselves from one place to another under any construction of the facts in this case. I don't believe they are motor vehicles. And I don't see how they can be classified as motor vehicles; they are not in design and origin and function. They are not motor vehicles and I think they're subject to tax, other than as motor vehicles. (R-98)

As outlined in the Statement of Facts, there is competent, substantial evidence in our record to support the District Court's approval of the trial Court's findings of fact. The purpose of

the cranes' propulsion over the public roads is so they can perform work at construction jobsites. This travel over the highways is incidental to the purpose for which the cranes are designed. The cranes are neither designed nor used to transport persons or property. The cranes in question have never transported persons. They have no passenger seats. The only persons who can lawfully accompany the cranes are those required for their safe operation over the roads.

The cranes do not transport property, but only themselves and parts of themselves such as buckets, slings and jib booms. One could not seriously contend that the primary function of an American 5520 Crane having a gross weight of more than 100,000 pounds, is to carry a bucket to a job site! The function the cranes serve is performed at job sites, not carrying something The photographs contained in Plaintiff's Exhibit 9 show there. that the cranes are not mounted on what would otherwise be trucks. State of Florida would issue citations to Crane Rental for The violation of the licensing laws were Crane Rental to use the cranes for transportation of persons or property while licensed in Tax Code Class 94. They would need truck licenses in Tax Class Codes 40 through 44 to transport persons or property lawfully over the roads of Florida. Maybe Crane Rental can obtain truck licensing for its cranes. Perhaps the cranes could then lawfully transport persons and property over the roads. Whether the cranes would be taxable would then be an interesting question. That, however, is not the question in our appeal. Since there is competent, substantial evidence in the record to support the trial

Court's findings of fact, the Final Judgment must be affirmed. Kuvin v. Kuvin, 442 So.2d 203 (Fla. 1983), Deakyne v. Deakyne, 460 So.2d 582 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984).

Crane Rental claims at IB-7 that Section 320.08(5)(b), Florida Statutes (1985), supports their contention that the cranes "motor vehicles". This subsection only applies to "motor are vehicles equipped with machinery", such as a truck with a well-drilling rig located in the bed. This subsection necessarily refers back to Section 320.01(1)(a) for the definition of "motor vehicle". Section 316.003(49) specifically excludes truck-mounted machinery from the definition of "Special Mobile Equipment". This subsection cannot somehow make a crane a motor vehicle when the Legislature has provided that it clearly is not. Plaintiff's Exhibit "1" showed that none of the cranes were charged \$32.50 for their identification tag, as provided in Section 320.08(5)(b). This negates Crane Rental's conclusion that they are "special purpose vehicles" and licensed under that subsection. They were charged \$34.75 in Tax Class Code 94, as provided by the rate sheet.

B. The Legislature has "otherwise provided" that self-propelled cranes are "special mobile equipment", and not "motor vehicles".

Section 316.003(49), Florida Statutes (1985), defines 'special mobile equipment' as:

SPECIAL MOBILE EQUIPMENT.-- Any vehicle not designed or used primarily for the transportation of persons or property and only incidentally operated or moved over a

highway, including, but not limited to, ditchdigging well boring apparatus, and road construction apparatus, and maintenance machinery, such as asphalt spreaders, mixers, bucket loaders, tractors other than bituminous truck tractors, ditchers, leveling graders, finishing motor graders, road rollers, scarifiers, machines, power shovels and earth-moving carryalls and scrapers, and self-propelled cranes and earth moving draglines. The term does not include house trailers, dump equipment. trucks, truck-mounted transit mixers, cranes or shovels, other vehicles designed for the transportation of or persons or property to which machinery has been attached. (e.s.)

This definition is harmonious and consistent with the definition "otherwise provided" in Section 316.003(49), Florida Statutes (1985). "Self-propelled cranes" are specifically defined "Special Mobile Equipment". Crane Rental argues at IB-6 that as the "otherwise provided" language is limited to Chapter 320, Florida Statutes. Were this contention correct, the statute would necessarily read, "Except 88 otherwise provided in this Since it does not, the Courts may not read into chapter...". statutes language not placed there by the Legislature. This is what Crane Rental is asking this Court to do. Hialeah, Inc. v. B & G Horse Transportation, Inc., 368 So.2d 930 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979), Devin v. City of Hollywood, 351 So.2d 1022 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976).

Since the Legislature has not chosen to define "self propelled cranes" such as these fifteen cranes in the category of motor vehicles, and since the cranes are not "truck-mounted cranes", the trial Court and Fifth District Court of Appeal were correct in determining that they were not entitled to exemption as "motor vehicles".

C. Contrary to Crane Rental's assertion at IB-12, no case law authority holds that a self-propelled crane is a motor vehicle.

Other Florida decisions are in harmony with the Fifth District Court of Appeals' opinion. *M.J.S. v. State*, 453 So.2d 870 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984), holds that an item of equipment defined as "Special Mobile Equipment" in Section 316.003(49) is not a "motor vehicle". The item in question there was a construction backhoe, specifically listed as "ditchdigging apparatus/ditchers" and classified as "Special Mobile Equipment". Since "self-propelled cranes" are also so classified, the case is squarely on all fours in support of the District Court of Appeals' decision herein.

Sherman v. Reserve Insurance Company, 350 So.2d 349 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), holds that all of the tests prescribed in Section 320.01, Florida Statutes (1985), must be met before an item is a "motor vehicle".

In Forbes v. Bushnell Steel Construction Company, 76 So.2d 268 (Fla. 1954), the owner of a Mack Trucker Wrecker Crane and a Lorrain Crane, sought exemption from taxation. It contended that the cranes were designed for exclusive use and were used in its construction work, that they were operated and propelled over the public highways of the state by power other than muscular, that they received a "GW Series License Tag", and that they were therefore entitled to exemption as "motor vehicles". The trial Court held that the cranes were "motor vehicles" and granted relief. Reversing, this Court held:

> It seems to us that if we affirm the decree brought here for review the rule will have been established that any

equipment mounted on wheels equipped with pneumatic tires that is capable of being self-propelled on the highways by means of a gasoline engine is a motor vehicle, and therefore immune from ad valorem taxation under our laws, even though the equipment is designed exclusively for construction work and is used for this purpose.

found that the record in the case was inadequate, This Court because it did not demonstrate the nature of the business or construction work in which the equipment was employed, and that record did not show whether the operation on the highways was the primary, or only incidental to the main and ordinary use of the cranes. The design of the equipment was not shown, so it was left to conjecture whether the cranes were permanently affixed to the chassis of the vehicle or were mounted on separate frames and were hauled from place to place by a trailer coupling. The record did show the height, length, width and weight of the vehicles. not While the Court did not regard this information as "essential", this Court deemed some of it 'salient' as to the determination whether the cranes in question were "motor vehicles". The Court did observe, "The mere fact that the plaintiff has certificates of title and license tags therefor, or that the vehicles operate on the highways, is not decisive of the question". Id at 270.

All of the matters addressed by this Court in Bushnell, op.cit., were fully explored in our case. The nature of the business in which the equipment was employed was shown. Ample evidence showed that the operation over the highways was simply the means by which the cranes travelled to the jobsites where they performed their primary function. It was shown that the cranes

were permanently affixed to the chassis rather than being mounted on separate frames and hauled from place to place by a trailer coupling. The finder of fact knew the height, length, width, weight of the cranes and necessity for special permits to operate over the roads. All of those factors impelled the trial Court to its conclusion that the cranes in question were not motor vehicles.

A later decision of this Court is Green v. Pederson, 99 So.2d 292 (Fla. 1957). The State sought to impose a sales tax on a trackless train used off the public roads to transport tourists through Africa, U.S.A., a tourist attraction. This Court held:

> Certainly, if the miniature trackless train had never been and did not expect to go outside the bounds of the appellee's premises, the appellee could not reasonably be compelled to obtain a motor vehicle license and renew it annually; and we have the view that the fact that the vehicle occasionally traversed the public highways and on special occasions and, by inference, under streets supervision, does not clearly bring it within the special purview of the Motor Vehicle License Act. Cf. Forbes v. Bushnell Steel Construction Co., Fla. 1954, 76 So.2d 268 holding that the fact that a motor crane was operated on the highways was not decisive of the question of whether was a "motor vehicle" within the constitutional it exemption from an ad valorem property tax granted by Sec. 13, art. 9, Fla.Const. Id. at 296.

This Court can take judicial notice of its own records. The record in the *Green* case, *op.cit.*, shows that the trackless train consisted of a Jeep pulling three open cars equipped with passenger seats. It was identical to the "Land Voyager" that plies the streets of Fort Lauderdale and the popular "Conch Train" in Key West. A Jeep could obviously be licensed as a motor vehicle. When its use was exclusively to take patrons through a

wild animal attraction, it was held not be a "motor vehicle" within the terms of the licensing laws. This is consistent with the Fifth District Court of Appeals' ruling that the same item of personal property (such as heavy construction equipment and self-propelled cranes held for rent) can be "inventory" and exempt, "household goods" and also exempt, or taxable personal property depending on the circumstances. Adams Construction Equipment Company v. Hausman, 472 So.2d 467 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985). It also is conclusive as to the taxability of the three "yard cranes".

Attorney General's Opinion OAG 055-113 of May 31, 1955 holds,

> The Supreme Court of Florida has construed the legislative definition of a motor vehicle to mean an instrument designed and used for the purpose of hauling merchandise or persons as a means of transportation over the highways, and excludes machines operated on the highway merely as a means of passage from and to a place where they are intended to be used.

The self-propelled cranes of Crane Rental fall squarely within this Attorney General's Opinion. They are not performing any function while on the roads except moving to the jobsite or to Crane Rental's premises when the job is done.

The Florida Attorney General has held that golf carts were not entitled to registration as motor vehicles, since a motor vehicle must conform to all applicable standards and regulations to traffic on roads. AGO 064-8

See also, Hart v. Stinson, 135 Fla. 331, 185 So. 139 (Fla. 1935), holding that farm tractors are not motor vehicles subject

to license taxes.

The old "GW" tag has now become "Tax Class Code 94". This does not authorize the object to which it is affixed to tag or property over the roads of Florida. transport persons "Truck-tractors" are licensed in Tax Class Codes 40-44. This category would authorize transportation of persons and property the roads. The subject cranes are licensed in "Tax Class over Code 94", and Crane Rental pays a modest fee to the Orange County The cranes are not licensed as Tax Collector for the tag. "trucks". Were they licensed as "trucks", the current fee schedule would provide for an annual license fee of \$982.50 for weights in excess of 62,000 pounds.

The Constitutional provision relating to exemption of motor vehicles creates both an exemption and a tax. If property is duly licensed as a motor vehicle and pays a license tax, it is exempt from property taxes. However, to gain this exemption, it must in fact pay the truck license tax. Section 193.075, Florida Statutes (1985), specifically directs the Property Appraiser to assess any mobile home that does not bear a current license plate.

One cannot say that self-propelled cranes will always be taxable personal property or always motor vehicles. The case at bar simply involves fifteen specific cranes, used only incidentally to traverse the roads of Florida, and used predominantly to lift heavy objects at construction sites. These cranes are taxable as personal property. They are not motor vehicles.

It is unclear why the Amicii Curiae bring up and then

attempt to distinguish out-of-state cases, when those cases were not cited by the District Court of Appeal nor Crane Rental.

Donahue v. Transport Indemnity Company, 86 Cal.Rptr. 632, 7 C.A.3d 291 (Cal. 1964) involved an insurance claim based on an accident where a crane was unloading pipe from a truck. The real question involved in that case was definitions under a policy of insurance rather than a generic definition of motor vehicle. Crane Rental relied on that case in its Initial Brief to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. Mr. Hausman agrees that this case had no relevance to our situation.

Haveman v. Board of County Road Commissioners, 96 N.W.2d 153, 356 Mich. 11 (Mich. 1959) involved an accident which took place alongside a highway where a "Gradall" was involved in an accident. A "Gradall" is a truck upon which is mounted a crane or boom with a turntable swing. That vehicle is substantially different from Crane Rental's self-propelled cranes. Again, that case was cited by Crane Rental in its brief to the Fifth District Court of Appeal. It has no more relevance in this Court than it did in the Fifth District.

However, a most interesting out-of-state decision is In Re Ferro Contracting Co., 380 F.2d 116 (3d Cir. 1967). The Court of Appeals held, "We therefore believe that the definition of 'motor vehicle' was not intended to embrace machinery which normally operates at construction sites even though literally it perhaps can be used to transport persons on a highway". Id. at 119.

Another case is In Re Ramco Well Service, Inc., 32 B.R. 525 (Bkrtcy. 1983). Page 533 from that decision is a drawing of

the "workover rig" involved in that case. That drawing shows that the rig is remarkably similar to the self-propelled cranes involved in ours. The question was whether "workover rigs" are "special mobilized equipment" or "motor vehicles". The Court held:

> The primary function of a rig is to raise and lower tubing and rods in and out of the hole. In order to accomplish this they have a powerful engine, drawworks and a mast. The components are all mounted on a carrier which has rubber tires and can be driven on the highways. The mast telescopes and is carried horizontally atop the other equipment. Upon arriving at the well the mast is elevated to the upright position above the well and telescoped to its full length...

> It likewise appears that the ability of workover rigs to travel on the highway is incidental to their primary function of providing services to the well. The only reason they are mobile is to be able to travel to the well site where the work is done. Likewise, their useful revenue producing function is performed off the road at the well.

> It thus appears that as a matter of fact the rigs are special mobilized equipment as defined by [statute].

An important out-of-state decision which the Amicii choose to ignore is Koehring Company v. Adams, 452 F.Supp. 635 (D.C. Wis. 1978), affirmed 605 F.2d 280 (7th. Cir 1979). Seven manufacturers of self-propelled cranes brought an action against the Secretary of Transportation, to determine that their equipment is not subject to the rulemaking authority of the National Highway Traffic Safety Administration. That is the body which prescribes the rules such as equipping vehicles with seat-belts, the famous bumpers which supposedly withstand a five mile an hour impact, and the like. The Federal definition of "motor vehicle" is "any vehicle driven or drawn by mechanical power manufactured primarily

for use on the public streets, roads and highways, except any vehicle operated exclusively on a rail or rails". The NHTSA had issued opinion letters in which it stated that a "motor vehicle is a vehicle which the manufacturer expects will use the public highway as part of its intended function". It specifically included mobile cranes in its definition. The Court held that the operation on highways is decidedly an incidental activity, and that therefore, mobile cranes are not "motor vehicles".

The Amicii also chose not to discuss In Re Browning Crane and Shovel Co., 133 F.Supp. 653 (D.C. Ohio 1955), which holds that a chassis which would be incorporated into a self-propelled crane was not a "motor vehicle" for purposes of determining priority of liens: "Certainly, by merely looking at these chassis, anyone could see that as they stood and traveled the highway, they were not "designed" nor adapted for nor employed in general highway transportation." Id. at 661.

> D. Crane Rental and the Amicii Curiae raise issues which were not raised in the trial Court. This Court cannot consider them for the first time here.

Crane Rental argues at IB-13 that the Property Appraisers are "not uniformly attempted throughout the state". The Property Appraiser assumes that Crane Rental is attempting to raise for the first time, an equal protection argument that the Property Appraiser in Orange County is assessing self-propelled cranes

while other property appraisers are not. Nothing in the Record on Appeal supports this contention. In fact, Amicus Curiae United Crane & Equipment Rental, Inc. alleged in its Motion to File Brief as Amicus Curiae that it was involved in litigation with the Palm Beach County property appraiser presenting similar questions of law.

Crane Rental pointed out to this Court by its "Notice of Concurrent Pending Appeal in Lower Court" served April 4, 1988, that the Circuit Court of the Eleventh Circuit (Dade County) had reached a result similar to that of the Fifth District Court of Appeal. The only information before this Court shows that at least two other counties are assessing cranes as tangible personal property. This Court held in *Department of Revenue v. Ford*, 438 So.2d 798 (Fla. 1983), cert.den. 466 U.S. 946, 104 S.Ct. 2149, 80 L.Ed.2d 532 (U.S. 1984), that to show that some property appraisers were not following the law did not authorize relief against a property appraiser who was.

The Amicii suggest at AB-14 that double taxation exists as a result of the Fifth District Court of Appeal's opinion. This issue was not raised in the trial Court and cannot be raised here.

The Amicii argue at AB-6 that the Property Appraiser was somehow required to make the State of Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles a party to this case. The State is not even a proper party in the trial Court. Section 194.181, Florida Statutes (1985). Had Crane Rental wished to contest the constitutionality of any statute or tax, it would have been required to add the Department of Revenue as a party below.

Sec. 194.181, Florida Statutes (1985).

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